NEC 15 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By\_ Chief Deputy Clerk

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

R.J. and P.J.,

Petitioners

VS.

Case No. 82,743

HUMANA OF FLORIDA, INC., d/b/a HUMANA HOSPITAL-LUCERNE, a Florida corporation, SMITHKLINE BEECHAM CLINICAL LABORATORIES, INC., f/k/a SMITHKLINE BIO-SCIENCE LABORATORIES, LTD., INC. a foreign corporation and WILLIAM J. ROBBINS, M.D.,

Respondents.

## **DISCRETIONARY PROCEEDINGS** TO REVIEW A DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FIFTH DISTRICT

## **PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON MERITS**

ROY B. DALTON, JR., ESQUIRE Fla. Bar No. 228753 Martinez & Dalton, P.A. 719 Vassar Street Orlando, Florida 32804 (407) 425-0712

#### STATEMENT OF CASE

On November 4, 1991 Petitioners, R.J. and P.J., brought an action in the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Orange County, Florida against Respondents, Humana of Florida, Inc., d/b/a Humana Hospital-Lucerne, Smithkline Beecham Clinical Laboratories, Inc., f/k/a Smithkline Bio-Science Laboratories, Ltd., Inc. and William J. Robbins, M.D. This Complaint was amended. [R. 34-40, 70-76]

Respondents moved to dismiss the Complaint and all amendments. [R. 17-19, 28-31, 43-45 46-49, 84-86] Respondents contended that there was no allegation of physical impact and therefore no action could be maintained. On September 9, 1992 the trial court dismissed Petitioners' action with prejudice as to all Respondents. [R. 77-79]

Petitioners appealed the dismissal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. On October 15, 1993 the Fifth District issued its opinion which reluctantly affirmed the dismissal, but certified the following question to this Court as one of great public importance:

> "Does the impact rule apply to a claim for damages from a negligent HIV diagnosis?" **R.J. v. Humana**, 18 FLW D2232 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993)

On November 18, 1993 Petitioners filed their Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction of this Honorable Court on the basis of the certified question. This Court postponed its decision on jurisdiction and ordered the filing of briefs on the merits.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 19, 1989, blood was extracted from R.J. by agents or employees of Humana Hospital-Lucerne. The blood was forwarded to Smithkline Beecham Clinical Laboratories, Inc., f/k/a Smithkline Bio-Science Laboratories, Ltd., Inc., for testing and analysis. [R. 71, 73]

On March 30, 1989 Humana told R.J. that he was infected with the HIV virus and referred him to William J. Robbins, M.D., for medical care and treatment. [R. 71] Dr. Robbins began to care and treat R.J. in April of 1989. Dr. Robbins accepted the validity of the Humana/Smithkline HIV test and did not retest R.J. to confirm the presence of the virus. [R. 72, 75]

In November of 1990 R.J. requested to be retested. This further testing revealed that R.J. was *not* infected with the virus. [R. 72, 75] As a result of the negligent diagnosis and failure to retest, R.J. was caused to suffer:

"... bodily injury including hypertension, pain and suffering, mental anguish, the loss of capacity for the enjoyment of life, and the reasonable expenses of medical care and attention. These losses are continuing or permanent in nature." [R. 73, 74, 75]

In addition, R.J.'s wife, P.J., as a result of her husband's pain, suffering and mental anguish, suffered a loss of his companionship, society, services and consortium and incurred expenses for medical care and treatment. [R. 73, 74, 75]

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

· · · ·

R.J. was diagnosed and treated by the Respondent health care providers as a person infected with the HIV virus for approximately nineteen months. This diagnosis was incorrect and made as a result of negligence. R.J. and his wife, P.J., instituted a medical malpractice action against the responsible medical health professionals. This action was dismissed on the pleadings due to the application of the "impact" doctrine.

The "impact" doctrine was never intended to apply to freestanding torts, such as claims for medical malpractice. In addition, the diagnosis of HIV positive is a medical death sentence with no possibility for survival. It also brands a patient as a modern day leper. This diagnosis would cause anyone to experience severe emotional trauma. Public policy demands a remedy for this wrong, just as it does in the case of a wrongful birth. [Kush v. Lloyd, 616 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1992)]

Most legal commentators agree that the "impact" doctrine and its progeny should be abolished or, at least, changed and clarified. There is no legitimate reason or public policy which is served by denying Petitioners a remedy for the emotional injuries they have sustained. It is time for Florida to reconsider this doctrine.

Finally, this action alleges both an "impact", i.e., unneeded medical care and treatment, and a physical injury, i.e., bodily injury. Therefore, the complaint meets the requirements of the "impact" doctrine and should not have been dismissed.

Living for nineteen months with a medical death sentence and as a modern day leper due to the negligence of medical health professionals is a wrong for which justice demands court access. Whether the "impact" rule is abolished, modified, found inapplicable to this action, or the requirements of the rule are found to have been satisfied, the dismissal of this action must be reversed.

#### ARGUMENT

## 1. THE IMPACT DOCTRINE SHOULD NOT BE APPLIED TO A CLAIM FOR DAMAGES FROM A NEGLIGENT HIV DIAGNOSIS AS A MATTER OF PUBLIC POLICY.

The "impact" doctrine prohibits recovery for injuries caused by negligence in the absence of a physical impact to the claimant. [Gilliam v. Stewart, 291 So. 2d 593 (Fla. 1974)] However, there are some situations where the doctrine does not apply. For example, this Court recently explained in Kush v. Lloyd, 616 So. 2d 415, 422, 423, (Fla. 1992) that:

"...we are not certain that the impact doctrine ever was intended to be applied to a tort such as wrongful birth. Prosser and Keaton state that the impact doctrine should not be applied where emotional damages are an additional 'parasitic' consequence of conduct that itself is a freestanding tort apart from any emotional injury....

Obviously, the Lloyds have a claim for wrongful birth even if no emotional injuries had been alleged.

Similarly, the impact doctrine also generally is inapplicable to recognized torts in which damages often are predominantly emotional, such as defamation or invasion of privacy... This conclusion is entirely consistent with existing Florida law. For example, it is well settled that mental suffering constitutes recoverable damages in cases of negligent defamation... If emotional damages are ascertainable in these contexts, then they also are ascertainable here.

There can be little doubt that emotional injury is more likely to occur when negligent medical advise leads parents to give birth to a severely impaired child than if someone wrongfully calls them liars, accuses them of unchastity, or subjects them to any singular defamation. A defamation may have little effect, may not be believed, might be ignored, or could be reversed by trial publicity. But the fact of a child's serious congenital deformity may have a profound effect, cannot be ignored, and at least in this case is irreversible. Indeed, these parents went to considerable lengths to avoid the precise injury they now have suffered. We conclude that public policy requires the impact doctrine not be applied within the context of wrongful birth claims..."

The same policy should prohibit the application of the impact doctrine to this action for a negligent HIV diagnosis. Like Kush, this is an action for medical malpractice, which is a freestanding tort.

Although the "impact" doctrine was not discussed, the case of *Swain v. Curry*, 595 So. 2d 551, (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) is worthy of note. *Swain* is a medical malpractice action against a physician for a negligent delay in diagnosing breast cancer. At the time of suit Mrs. Swain had been successfully treated and there had been no reoccurrence of the cancer. However, her chances for cancer reoccurrence were placed at 65%. If there had been no delay in diagnosis and treatment, her chances for cancer reoccurrence would have been much less.

The First District Court of Appeal reversed a summary judgment for the defendant doctor, ruling as follows:

...we further hold that the trial court erred by finding that Mrs. Swain has no present cause of action for increased risk of cancer, for a decreased chance of survival or for reduction of life expectancy. The nomenclature utilized in the order under review is simply incorrect. The three matters addressed by the trial court do not encompass "causes of action", but rather describe elements of damage. "[595 So. 2d at p. 172]

Unless negligent medical care and treatment constitute an "impact" (see the discussion *infra* at p. 9), Mrs. Swain's action for medical malpractice was allowed to proceed without the application of the impact doctrine. Like *Swain* and *Kush*, the action here is the freestanding tort of medical malpractice. Therefore, the "impact" doctrine should not be applied.

In addition, as in *Kush*, there can be no doubt that serious emotional injury will occur when anyone is diagnosed as HIV positive. HIV infection is viewed as an automatic death sentence with no possibility for survival. Society treats HIV positive persons as modern day lepers. [*Rasmussen v. South Florida Blood Service*, 500 So. 2d 533, 537 (Fla. 1987)]

Fear of the HIV virus has caused small children to be excluded from school or placed in glass boxes to attend school; it has caused employers, neighbors, friends and even family members to turn their backs on HIV positive persons; and it has led to distrust, hate and violence. Even famous and adulated persons, such as Magic Johnson, cannot totally escape from the consequences of this fear.

The purpose of the "impact" doctrine is to protect society from emotional distress claims which are trivial or untrustworthy. The doctrine does not apply to actions for wrongful birth because such an occurrence would cause severe emotional distress to anyone. Similarly, a diagnosis of HIV positive would cause severe emotional distress to anyone. A negligent HIV diagnosis is a wrong for which justice demands a remedy. Public policy requires the rejection of the "impact" doctrine as a basis for dismissal of this action.

## II. THE IMPACT DOCTRINE SHOULD BE MODIFIED OR ABOLISHED SO THAT IT DOES NOT BAR THIS ACTION.

The "impact" doctrine is a nineteenth century creation of English law. [Victorian Railways Commissioner v. Coultas, 13 App. Cas. 405 (P.C. 1888)] In England, the doctrine existed for only a few years. [Dulieu v. White & Sons, 2 K. B. 669, 695, (1901); Hambrook v. Stokes Brothers, 1 K. B. 141 (1925)]. However, the doctrine has been embraced in the United States and still persists in some states. It has spawned an intense debate among courts and commentators and has created a continually changing morass of contradictory and confusing rules. [Slavin, Damages in Tort Actions, Chapter 5, "Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress" (1992)]

Most commentators acknowledge that change is needed. The reasons for limiting court access for emotional injuries are either non-existent in today's world or can be accommodated with less drastic measures. Some commentators like Professor Peter Bell, recommend the removal of all restrictions. [Bell, "The Bell Tolls: Toward Full Tort Recovery for Psychic Injury," 36 U. Fla. L Rev. 333 (1984)] Others suggest a more limited approach. [Davies, "Direct Actions for Emotional Harm: Is Compromise Possible?" 67 Wash L. **Rev.** 1 (1992); Greenburg, "Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress: A Proposal for a Consistent Theory of Tort Recovery for Bystanders and Direct Victims," 19 Pepperdine L. Rev. 1283 (1992)] But, most commentators agree that there is a need for both change and clarity.

There is no legitimate reason or public policy which is served by denying Petitioners a remedy for the emotional injuries they have sustained. Accordingly, the "impact" doctrine should be modified or abolished so that it does not bar this action.

## III. THIS ACTION MEETS THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE IMPACT DOCTRINE AND SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN DISMISSED.

What is an "impact"? The Third District Court of Appeal in *Eagle - Pilcher Industries, Inc. v. Cox*, 481 So. 2d 517, 526 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) has found that the inhalation of asbestos constitutes an "impact". The Kentucky Supreme Court has found that exposure to xrays constitutes an "impact". [*Deutsch v. Schein*, 597 S.W. 2d 141 (Ky 1980)]

Petitioners allege that R.J. was subjected to unneeded medical care and treatment as a result of the negligent diagnosis. [R. 70-76] R.J.'s body was certainly touched in the course of this unneeded treatment, i.e., by the gloved hands of medical care professionals and by a variety of medical instruments. In addition, drugs were probably administered both orally, by pill, and intravenously, by shot. This contact should more than satisfy the "impact" requirement.

Alternatively, if a physical injury is required, that allegation has also been made. [R. 73, 74, 75] The Complaint specifically alleges a bodily injury. What more is required at the pleading stage of a proceeding? The dismissal of this action was in error.

## **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated herein, Petitioners respectfully request this Honorable Court to answer the certified question in the negative, reverse the dismissal of this action, and remand for further proceedings.