JAN 18 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

R.J. and P.J.,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO. 82,743

HUMANA OF FLORIDA, INC., d/b/a
HUMANA HOSPITAL - LUCERNE, a
Florida corporation, SMITHKLINE
BEECHAM CLINICAL LABORATORIES,
INC., f/k/a SMITHKLINE BIO-SCIENCE
LABORATORIES, LTD., INC., a foreign
corporation and WILLIAM J. ROBBINS,
M.D.,

District Court of Appeal, 5th District - No. 92-02333

Respondents.

ON THE CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS OF RESPONDENT SMITHKLINE

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

bars plaintiffs' claim for emotional distress damages.

Plaintiffs' effort to seek an exception to the impact rule for their particular circumstances constitutes exactly the type of re-litigation of settled questions that stare decisis is intended to prevent. By the same token, a decision modifying the rule for this case would inevitably spawn state-wide efforts to obtain exceptions for other types of negligence claims, thereby eliminating the objective certainty the rule is intended provide and profoundly impacting this Court's interest in the fair and expeditious adjudication of litigation.

Third, stare decisis recognizes that the necessary public confidence in the judiciary can only be maintained through the consistently reasoned and impersonal judgments of courts. Bonner, 661 F.2d at 1209-10; see <u>Vasquez</u>, 474 U.S. at 265-66; Strazzulla, 177 So. 2d at 3. While the adage "hard facts make bad law" is often invoked to explain incongruous judicial decisions, stare decisis "permits society to presume that bedrock principles are founded in the law rather than in the proclivities of individuals." Vasquez, 474 U.S at 265. The societal benefit derived from judicial consistency in the application of legal principles and from the perceived integrity of the judicial process cannot be overstated. Any judicial decision based on a charitable search for episodic justice, rather than on the wellreasoned application of universal legal principles, undermines the public trust and confidence upon which the judiciary, and ultimately society, depend.

Although it has carved out narrow exceptions for certain discrete types of cases involving circumstances very different from these, this Court has steadfastly applied the "impact" rule to bar negligence claims like those asserted by plaintiffs against Smithkline. It should not abandon or recede from that rule in this case.

3. Plaintiffs have shown no principled basis why this Court should either abandon or recede from the impact rule in this case.

Departure from the established precedent of this Court

"demands special justification." Arizona v. Rumsey, 467 U.S.

203, 212 (1984). Thus, plaintiffs bear a "heavy burden of
persuading the Court that changes in society or in the law
dictate that the values served by stare decisis yield in favor of
a greater objective." Vasquez, 474 U.S. at 266. Plaintiffs have
failed to carry this heavy burden and provide any adequate
justification for this Court to abandon or create new exceptions
to its established precedent upholding the integrity of the
impact rule. To the contrary, they have done nothing more than
reiterate arguments that this Court has time and again considered
but rejected. It should do so again.

In the only decision to directly address the "impact" rule since <u>Kush</u>, the Fourth District made it clear that Florida's "long-standing" impact rule continues to be the law of Florida except to the "very limited extent" it was modified in <u>Champion</u>. Reynolds v. State Farm Mt. Auto. Ins. Co., 611 So. 2d 1294, 1295-96 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), <u>review denied</u>, 623 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 1993).

a. This Court has long recognized the policy underpinnings for the impact rule and expressly rejected arguments such as plaintiffs advance here.

Both in adopting the impact rule and in creating certain narrow exceptions to the rule, this Court has emphasized that the primary purpose of the impact rule is to guarantee the genuineness of recoverable mental distress and to insure that any injury flowing from such distress is the foreseeable result of the negligent act. Champion at 19-20; Eastern Airlines, Inc. v. King, 557 So. 2d 574, 579 (Fla. 1990) (Ehrlich, C.J., specially concurring). By their very nature, mental distress damages are highly subjective and speculative, leading this Court to respond to the necessity of placing some boundaries on "indefinable and unmeasurable psychic claims. 10/ Champion, 478 So. 2d at 20. Indeed, the difficulty in quantifying the value of such psychic injuries was specifically cited by this Court as grounds for rejecting a "wrongful life" claim. Kush, 616 So. 2d at 423. Simply put, the impact rule recognizes that unlimited liability for subjective psychic damages threatens defendants with exposure for damages out of all proportion to their culpability.

In addition, the impact rule recognizes that awarding compensation for any injury imposes costs not only upon the

The impact rule also responds to the fact that there are obvious differences between the various types of intangible harm -- such as mental distress or physical pain and suffering -- and the ability of money damages to compensate for such harms. Richard N. Pearson, <u>Liability for Negligently Inflicted Psychic Harm: A Response to Professor Bell</u>, 36 Fla. L. Rev. 413, 423-26 (1984).

defendant, but upon society as a whole. As a matter of policy, there are some injuries for which no compensation may be had or for which any remedy must be severely limited.

For example, while a person may recover for witnessing the grievous injury of a close family member under the Champion exception to the impact rule, that person may not recover for witnessing the same injuries inflicted upon an intimate friend. Reynolds, 611 So. 2d at 1296-1297 (long-time girlfriend could not recover for mental distress resulting from observing death of her boyfriend in auto accident). Yet it is clear that any person who witnesses an accident which produces horrific and catastrophic injuries obviously experiences a very real and keen mental distress, whether related to the victim or not. Allowing such expanding circles of recovery, however, could potentially multiply the pool of plaintiffs to include all witnesses to an accident and its aftermath, a result society has decided it cannot afford to countenance. By limiting potential liability for mental distress damages, society insures that it can afford to "compensate for physical injuries . . . and the physical and mental suffering which flow from the consequences of the physical injuries." See Champion, 478 So. 2d at 20.

It goes without saying that all members of our society suffer daily assaults on our "psychic well-being" that are entirely without remedy. As this Court put it, the impact rule:

gives practical recognition to the thought that not every injury which one person may by his negligence inflict upon another should be compensated in money damages. There must be some level of harm which one should absorb without recompense as the price he pays for living in an organized society.

Stewart v. Gilliam, 271 So. 2d 466, 477 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972)

(Reed, J., dissenting), adopted, 291 So. 2d 593, 595 (Fla. 1974);

Champion, 478 So. 2d at 18 (quoting same language with approval).

Consequently, while the law stands ready to penalize an individual who intentionally or maliciously inflicts serious emotional distress on another, the impact rule reflects a policy choice that such liability should only extend to a negligent actor under sharply limited circumstances.

For all these reasons, this Court has repeatedly rejected arguments such as those urged by plaintiffs which seek to disparage the impact rule and the policy choices underlying it. While plaintiffs argue that the impact rule serves no "legitimate reason or public policy" (P. Br. 9), this Court has consistently held otherwise. See Champion, 478 So. 2d at 18-20; Gilliam, 291 So. 2d at 595. Indeed, the bulk of the amicus brief submitted in support of plaintiffs' position does nothing more than reassert and rehash exactly the same arguments for overturning Florida's impact rule that were advanced to this Court and roundly rejected in Gilliam and Champion. (Compare Am. Br. 7-14 to Champion, 478 So. 2d at 18-20 and Gilliam, 291 So. 2d at 595).

For instance, in its seminal decision in <u>Gilliam</u>, this Court specifically considered the view of the Fourth District that

Florida should align itself with those jurisdictions which had abandoned the impact rule. Id. at 595. After careful deliberation, however, this Court refused to do so, stating "[w]e do not agree that . . . there is any valid justification to recede from the long standing decisions of this Court in this area." Id. This Court has continued since that time to reject arguments such as plaintiffs now assert. See, e.g., Champion, 478 So. 2d at 18-20; Brown, 468 So. 2d at 904.

Manifestly, if this Court believed the impact rule "outmoded," as plaintiffs and their amicus contend, it would have rejected the rule in its December 1992 decision in Kush.

Instead, the Court was careful to limit its holding there to "wrongful birth" cases. Kush, 616 So. 2d at 423. No reason exists for this Court to now abandon this long-settled rule, just a little more than one year later.

b. There is no policy justification for creating the exception sought by plaintiffs.

Relying heavily upon the limited "wrongful birth" exception adopted in <u>Kush</u>, plaintiffs argue that the impact rule should likewise not be applied to their case "as a matter of public policy." (P. Br. 5). They argue that, like the action for wrongful birth in <u>Kush</u>, theirs is a "freestanding tort" action

^{11/} This view had also been expressed by the Second District in Herlong Aviation, Inc. v. Johnson, 271 So. 2d 226, 227 (Fla. 2d DCA 1972). This Court reversed that decision on the same day as Gilliam. Johnson, 291 So. 2d at 604 (Fla. 1974).

for "medical malpractice" to which the impact rule should not be applied. Their contention is utterly without merit.

In point of fact, there is nothing "unique" about plaintiffs' claim that requires or justifies a special exception to the impact rule. This case is unlike Champion, where the Court said that the "price of death" was "too great a harm" to apply the impact rule. Champion, 478 So. 2d at 18. Nor is this case like <u>Kush</u>, where parents gave birth to a "severally impaired child," a harm which the parents had sought to avoid by seeking the defendant doctor's medical advice. Kush, 616 So. 2d at 733. While both Champion and Kush involved catastrophic and irreversible physical injuries sustained as a result of the defendants' negligence, this case involves no such injury, since plaintiff R.J. did not develop AIDS as a result of some negligent act of this defendant. To the contrary, plaintiffs' negligence claim against Smithkline is precisely the type of situation this Court was talking about when it observed that "[t]here must be some level of harm which one should absorb without recompense as the price he pays for living in an organized society." Champion, 478 So. 2d at 595.

Plaintiffs cite Rasmussen v. South Florida Blood Service, Inc., 500 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1987), a case involving a discovery request for the names of blood donors, as supposed support for their claim that they feared being treated as "modern day lepers." (See P. Br. 7). The fact is, however, that plaintiff R.J. did not develop AIDS and thus did not have an irreversible physical injury giving rise to the Champion exception.

Plaintiffs have produced no principled justification for creating an exception to the impact rule for claims such as theirs, and none exists. There is simply no rational basis for applying the impact rule to all negligence actions except those where the alleged negligence involves the rendering of some type of medical service. To the contrary, creating such an exception would subvert the impact rule and invite every plaintiff suing for negligence to assert a claim for mental distress in the hopes of eroding, and eventually gutting, the impact rule.

Moreover, if an exception were appropriate in the case of an HIV misdiagnosis, why not extend the exception further to the misdiagnosis of any life-threatening illness, such as cancer? Indeed, what principled reason could exist for stopping there? Why not an exception for the misdiagnosis of a sexually transmitted disease? What about a misdiagnosis that a fetus is severely deformed? Isn't the mental distress a person experiences upon being wrongly advised about these types of matters just as sharply felt? It obviously is, and the reason the impact rule limits the recovery of mental distress damages as it does is to insulate society from the tremendous costs such expansive and indefinite liability would impose.

There is no reason for this Court to take the first steps down that slippery slope in this case. Instead, this Court should reject plaintiffs' urgings to abandon the impact rule or create a "medical malpractice" exception to the rule in this case. By doing so, the Court will uphold the values served by

stare decisis: it will provide clear guidelines upon which individuals may base the conduct of their affairs, it will insure a fair and expeditious resolution of disputes, and it will maintain public confidence in the integrity of the judiciary.

c. Abandonment or erosion of the impact rule would have serious implications.

The implications attendant to the abandonment or erosion of the impact rule, as plaintiffs and their amicus urge, are truly staggering. That is all the more reason for this Court to follow its long-settled precedent.

As this Court has previously recognized, absent the impact rule, no workable legal limitation will exist on a defendant's liability for "indefinable and unmeasurable psychic claims."

Champion, 478 So. 2d at 20. Other states have tried to provide broader, more sweeping rules of decision in mental distress cases or have tried to examine each case as <u>sui generis</u> and carve out exception after exception in particular settings. The experience of these states demonstrate that such a course ultimately creates a morass of confusing and contradictory decisions. <u>Thing v. La Chusa</u>, 771 P.2d 814, 823-825 (Cal. 1989). 13/ In California, for example, one of the torch-bearers in liberal recovery for mental

^{13/} See Julie A. Greenberg, Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress: A Proposal for a Consistent Theory of Tort Recovery for Bystanders and Direct Victims, 19 Pepperdine L. Rev. 1283 (1992) (discussing California's experience).

distress claims, 14/ courts have labeled the law in this area an "'amorphous nether realm.'" Thing, 771 P.2d at 823 (quoting Newton v. Kaiser Found. Hosps., 228 Cal. Rptr. 890, 893 (Cal. Ct. App. 1986)).

Further, what is to replace the impact rule if this Court elects to abandon or recede from it -- pure foreseeability? This Court has expressly rejected such a test as wholly inadequate:

The pure foreseeability test, espoused by some, might lead to claims that we are unwilling to embrace in emotional trauma cases. We perceive that the public policy of this state is to compensate for physical injuries . . . and physical and mental suffering that flow from the consequences of the physical injuries. For this purpose we are willing to modify the impact rule, but are unwilling to expand it to purely subjective and speculative damages for psychic trauma alone.

Champion, 478 So. 2d at 20.

Even California courts have recognized that foreseeability alone is not a "useful 'guideline' or a meaningful restriction on the scope of an action for negligently inflicted emotional distress." Thing, 771 P.2d at 826. As California's Supreme Court noted, foreseeability "is endless because foreseeability, like light, travels indefinitely in a vacuum." Id. at 823 (quoting Newton, 228 Cal. Rptr. at 893)). Although foreseeability may set meaningful limits for most types of physical injury, "'it provides virtually no limit on liability

^{14/} For example, California allows recovery for mental distress damages to both husband and wife where one is negligently diagnosed with a sexually transmitted disease.

Molien v. Kaiser Found. Hosps., 616 P.2d 813 (Cal. 1980).

for nonphysical harm.'" <u>Id.</u> at 826 (citation omitted). In the negligent HIV diagnosis context alone, not only every patient, but every family member, sexual partner, or close friend of a patient could "foreseeably" suffer mental distress in such a case, potentially giving rise to a multitude of claims for mental distress surrounding any misdiagnosis. 15/

This Court should not open the flood-gates to such litigation. There is a societal need for continued adherence to the impact rule to avoid uncertainty in the law so that private actors may govern their conduct accordingly. While any such rule necessarily engenders some arbitrariness in its operation, this Court has recognized that this is "necessary to curb the potential of fraudulent claims, and to place some boundaries on the indefinable and unmeasurable psychic claims." Champion, 478 So. 2d at 20.

It is an essential adjunct of organized society that much of the mental distress we endure is not compensable. A legal

As a practical matter, a decision declaring the impact rule inapplicable in cases of allegedly negligent HIV testing could well diminish the number of clinical laboratories willing to perform such tests, since it is impossible to rule out the possibility of a false positive result. This at a time when such testing is recognized as critical to minimizing the proliferation of the virus. At the very least, such a decision would necessarily increase the cost of such procedures, at a time when we are all critically aware of the desperate need to contain this state's and this country's already spiralling health care costs.

^{16/} Significantly, among the reasons this Court reaffirmed the impact rule in <u>Gilliam</u> was a fear of "opening the flood gates" to an avalanche of mental distress claims. This concern is even more heightened today, given the nature and extent of lawyer advertising through sophisticated mass media techniques.

guarantee of psychic tranquility for all individuals, while it might "acknowledge man's involvement in mankind" and vindicate ours as a "loving society" attuned to "the scars of the heart," is simply beyond society's ability to afford. Thus, the impact rule does not, as the Academy complains, reflect a view that mental distress is not real. (Am. Br. 10). Rather, in recognition of the special subjective nature of psychic injuries, the need to avoid unlimited liability for negligence, and societal limitations, this rule simply seeks to limit recovery for this particular type of injury.

Simply put, Florida has determined that the law will protect individuals from emotional distress where that distress results from intentional misconduct or from malicious conduct justifying punitive damages, but not from negligently inflicted mental injuries unaccompanied by the requisite physical impact. This reflects a considered policy choice that, while tort law may indeed vindicate some societal interest in preserving psychic well-being, this interest is far more threatened by intentional or malicious misconduct than by negligent conduct.

for Psychic Injury, 36 Fla. L. Rev. 333, 335 (1984) (cited at P. Br. 8).

^{18/} Am. Br. at 10.

^{19/} See Slocum v. Food Fair Stores of Florida, Inc., 100 So. 2d 396 (Fla. 1958); Kirksey v. Jernigan, 45 So. 2d 188 (Fla. 1950); Williams v. City of Minneola, 575 So. 2d 683 (Fla. 5th DCA), review denied, 589 So. 2d 289 (Fla. 1991). Plaintiffs' claims were founded solely on allegations of negligence and there was no allegation of any intentional or malicious wrongdoing by any of the defendants.

Ultimately, the question underlying every liability determination in these circumstances is whether society is willing to impose a duty upon a negligent defendant to protect the plaintiff from emotional harm. The answer to this question must ultimately be determined based upon an analysis of the competing policy concerns set forth above. See Champion, 478 So. 2d at 18-20. With regard to negligence, this Court has answered that policy question affirmatively in discrete circumstances not presented here; first, where there is physical impact, and second, where the special circumstances presented in Champion and Kush are present. This Court should adhere to its prior precedent and reject plaintiffs' invitation to begin carving out exceptions to the impact rule for every "hard case" such as theirs.

POINT TWO

Plaintiffs' Claims for Emotional Distress Do Not Satisfy the Impact Rule As a Matter of Law.

Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint did not allege that any of the defendants inflicted a direct and immediate physical trauma on either of the plaintiffs. Further, plaintiffs did not allege that their emotional distress resulted in a contemporaneous, significant, and objectively discernible physical injury. As a result, their complaint did not satisfy either the impact rule or the requirements of the exception to the rule set forth in Champion.

On appeal, plaintiffs asserted for the first time that the requisite "impact" may be found in the purported "bodily injury" plaintiff R.J. suffered from the "touching" of his person during the medical treatment Dr. Robbins subsequently provided to him for HIV.²⁰/ The Academy, similarly straining to find some hint of physical impact, further argues that "impact" may be found in the "penetration of the needle" and drawing of blood performed by "respondents" for plaintiff R.J.'s initial blood testing. These contentions are not only belated,²¹/ they do not satisfy the

Plaintiffs have <u>never</u> contended, and do not now contend, that any of the defendants inflicted <u>any</u> "bodily injury" or physical trauma upon plaintiff P.J. which could constitute "impact." Thus, her claim falls even under plaintiffs' argument on appeal.

^{21/} Neither contention was asserted before the trial court and it cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. <u>Jones v. Neibergall</u>, 47 So. 2d 605, 606 (Fla. 1950) ("We will not divine issues from the ether nor attempt to adjudicate those not (continued...)

requirement of physical impact under the binding precedent of this Court as a matter of law.

1. Defendant Smithkline did not perform any of the acts which supposedly constituted an "impact" upon plaintiff R.J.

As a preliminary matter, it must be emphasized that the plaintiffs' and the Academy's asserted "impacts" both fail as to this defendant, because Smithkline did not participate in drawing plaintiff R.J.'s blood or in providing his subsequent medical treatment. Smithkline merely tested the blood sample that was provided to it by Humana and reported the test results to Humana as one tool, along with physical symptoms and other indicia of HIV, for Dr. Robbins to use in making a diagnosis of plaintiff R.J.'s medical condition. That is all Smithkline did -- nothing more and nothing less, and it did not itself have any direct contact or involvement with plaintiff R.J. Thus, even under its newly asserted arguments, plaintiffs cannot demonstrate any

 $[\]frac{21}{2}$ (...continued) presented by the pleadings or ruled on by the trial court."). Moreover, as the record makes clear, plaintiffs did not seek an opportunity from the trial court to plead the essential element of "impact" more specifically. Instead, after having received several opportunities to amend their complaint, plaintiffs chose to stand on their Second Amended Complaint, and they must accordingly stand on it before this Court. Davis v. Sun First Nat'l Bank of Orlando, 408 So. 2d 608, 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981), review denied, 413 So. 2d 875 (Fla. 1982) ("[A]ppellant contends that the trial court erred in dismissing her complaint without leave to amend [T]he record fails to show that appellant sought leave of court to amend or that she moved for a rehearing requesting leave to amend. Thus, she is precluded from asserting this issue for the first time on appeal.").

physical impact or trauma that <u>Smithkline</u> directly inflicted on plaintiff R.J.'s person.

 The complained of acts do not in any event satisfy the impact rule.

Even assuming that Smithkline had drawn blood from or provided any medical treatment to plaintiff R.J., those actions would not have met the requirements of Florida's impact rule. To satisfy the impact rule, the defendant's negligent act must have directly and immediately inflicted an injurious physical trauma on the plaintiff's person. See Champion, 478 So. 2d at 19 n.1, 20; Brown, 468 So. 2d at 904; Gilliam, 291 So. 2d at 594-95; Reynolds, 611 So. 2d at 1296. Absent such a direct physical trauma, the impact rule applies to bar a party's claim for emotional distress, even if some significant -- but derivative -- physical injury ultimately results from the negligently inflicted emotional distress. See Gilliam, 291 So. 2d at 594-95.

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